

EXPOSURE DRAFT

# ED 8 Operating Segments

Comments to be received by 19 May 2006



**Exposure Draft**  
**ED 8 OPERATING SEGMENTS**

*Comments to be received by 19 May 2006*

ED 8 *Operating Segments* is published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) for comment only. The proposals may be modified in the light of the comments received before being issued as an International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS). Comments on the draft IFRS and its accompanying documents (see separate booklets) should be submitted in writing so as to be received by **19 May 2006**.

All responses will be put on the public record unless the respondent requests confidentiality. However, such requests will not normally be granted unless supported by good reason, such as commercial confidence. If commentators respond by fax or email, it would be helpful if they could also send a hard copy of their response by post. Comments should preferably be sent by email to: **CommentLetters@iasb.org** or addressed to:

**Kil-woo Lee**

**Project Manager**

**International Accounting Standards Board**

**30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, United Kingdom**

**Fax: +44 (0)20 7246 6411**

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation (IASCF), the authors and the publishers do not accept responsibility for loss caused to any person who acts or refrains from acting in reliance on the material in this publication, whether such loss is caused by negligence or otherwise.

Copyright © 2006 IASCF®

ISBN for this part: 1-905590-01-6

ISBN for complete publication (set of three parts): 1-905590-00-8

All rights reserved. Copies of the draft IFRS and its accompanying documents may be made for the purpose of preparing comments to be submitted to the IASB, provided such copies are for personal or intra-organisational use only and are not sold or disseminated and provided each copy acknowledges the IASCF's copyright and sets out the IASB's address in full. Otherwise, no part of this publication may be translated, reprinted or reproduced or utilised in any form either in whole or in part or by any electronic, mechanical or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage and retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the IASCF.



International  
Accounting Standards  
Board®

The IASB logo/'Hexagon Device', 'eIFRS', 'IAS', 'IASB', 'IASC', 'IASCF', 'IAsS', 'IFRIC', 'IFRS', 'IFRSs', 'International Accounting Standards', 'International Financial Reporting Standards' and 'SIC' are Trade Marks of the IASCF.

**Additional copies of this publication may be obtained from:**

**IASCF Publications Department,**

**1st Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, United Kingdom.**

**Tel: +44 (0)20 7332 2730 Fax: +44 (0)20 7332 2749**

**Email: [publications@iasb.org](mailto:publications@iasb.org) Web: [www.iasb.org](http://www.iasb.org)**

CONTENTS

	<i>pages</i>
<b>INVITATION TO COMMENT</b>	<b>5–6</b>
	<i>paragraphs</i>
<b>INTRODUCTION</b>	<b>IN1–IN18</b>
Reasons for issuing the [draft] IFRS	IN1–IN3
Main features of the [draft] IFRS	IN4–IN8
Changes from previous requirements	IN9–IN18
 <b>[DRAFT] INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD X OPERATING SEGMENTS</b>	
<b>CORE PRINCIPLE</b>	<b>1</b>
<b>SCOPE</b>	<b>2–3</b>
<b>OPERATING SEGMENTS</b>	<b>4–9</b>
<b>REPORTABLE SEGMENTS</b>	<b>10–18</b>
Aggregation criteria	11
Quantitative thresholds	12–18
<b>DISCLOSURE</b>	<b>19–23</b>
General information	21
Information about profit or loss and assets	22–23
<b>MEASUREMENT</b>	<b>24–29</b>
Reconciliations	27
Restatement of previously reported information	28–29
<b>ENTITY-WIDE DISCLOSURES</b>	<b>30–33</b>
Information about products and services	31
Information about geographical areas	32
Information about major customers	33
<b>TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS AND EFFECTIVE DATE</b>	<b>34–35</b>
<b>WITHDRAWAL OF OTHER PRONOUNCEMENTS</b>	<b>36</b>

**APPENDIX**

**Amendments to other IFRSs**

**BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS** *(see separate booklet)*

**IMPLEMENTATION GUIDANCE** *(see separate booklet)*

## Invitation to comment

The International Accounting Standards Board invites comments on any aspect of the Exposure Draft of its proposed IFRS *Operating Segments*. It would particularly welcome answers to the questions set out below. Comments are most helpful if they indicate the specific paragraph or group of paragraphs to which they relate, contain a clear rationale and, when applicable, provide a suggestion for alternative wording.

Comments should be submitted in writing so as to be received no later than **19 May 2006**.

### **Question 1 – Adoption of the management approach in SFAS 131**

The draft IFRS adopts the management approach to segment reporting set out in SFAS 131 *Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information* issued by the US Financial Accounting Standards Board.

Is this approach to segment reporting appropriate? If not, why not? What, if any, alternative approach would you propose?

### **Question 2 – Divergence from SFAS 131**

The wording of the draft IFRS is the same as that of SFAS 131 except for changes necessary to make the terminology consistent with that in other IFRSs.

Do you think that the draft IFRS should depart from the management approach in SFAS 131 by setting requirements for

- (a) the measurement of specified items or
- (b) the disclosure of specified amounts that might otherwise not be given?

If so, identify the requirements you would add and indicate what you see as the relative costs and benefits of any such requirements.

### **Question 3 – Scope of the standard**

The existing standard IAS 14 requires entities whose equity or debt securities are publicly traded and entities that are in the process of issuing equity or debt securities in public securities markets to disclose segment information. The draft IFRS extends the scope to include also entities that hold assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders.

Do you agree with the scope of the draft IFRS? If not, why not?

**Question 4 – Level of reconciliations**

The draft IFRS requires an entity to provide, for specified items, reconciliations of total reportable segment amounts to amounts recognised by the entity in accordance with IFRSs. It does not require such reconciliations for individual reportable segments.

Do you agree with the level of reconciliations required in the draft IFRS? If not, indicate what you see as the relative costs and benefits of any other level of reconciliation.

**Question 5 – Geographical information about assets**

The draft IFRS requires an entity to disclose geographical information about non-current assets excluding specified items. It does not require disclosure of geographical information about total assets.

Do you agree with the requirement to disclose geographical information about non-current assets excluding specified items? If not, for which assets would you require geographical information to be given?

**Question 6 – Consequential amendments to IAS 34 *Interim Financial Reporting***

The draft IFRS requires an entity to disclose more segment information in interim financial reports than is currently required, including a reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments' measures of profit or loss to the entity's profit or loss.

Do you agree with the consequential amendments made to IAS 34? If not, why not?

[Draft] International Financial Reporting Standard X *Operating Segments* ([draft] IFRS X) is set out in paragraphs 1-36 and the Appendix. All the paragraphs have equal authority. Paragraphs in **bold type** state the main principles. Definitions of terms are given in the Glossary for International Financial Reporting Standards. [Draft] IFRS X should be read in the context of its core principle and the Basis for Conclusions, the *Preface to International Financial Reporting Standards* and the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements*. IAS 8 *Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors* provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.



## Introduction

### **Reasons for issuing the [draft] IFRS**

---

- IN1 [Draft] International Financial Reporting Standard X *Operating Segments* sets out requirements for disclosure of information about an entity's operating segments and also about the entity's products and services, the geographical areas in which it operates, and its major customers.
- IN2 Achieving convergence of accounting standards around the world is one of the prime objectives of the International Accounting Standards Board. In pursuit of that objective, the Board and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in the United States have undertaken a joint short-term project with the objective of reducing differences between International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and US generally accepted accounting principles (US GAAP) that are capable of resolution in a relatively short time and can be addressed outside major projects. One aspect of that project involves the two boards considering each other's recent standards with a view to adopting high quality financial reporting solutions. The [draft] IFRS arises from the IASB's consideration of FASB Statement No. 131 *Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information* (SFAS 131) issued in 1997, compared with IAS 14 *Segment Reporting*, which was issued in substantially its present form by the IASB's predecessor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee, in 1997.
- IN3 The [draft] IFRS achieves convergence with the requirements of SFAS 131. The wording of the [draft] IFRS is the same as that of SFAS 131 except for changes necessary to make the terminology consistent with that in other IFRSs.

### **Main features of the [draft] IFRS**

---

- IN4 The [draft] IFRS sets out the way that an entity should report information about its operating segments in annual financial statements and, as a consequential amendment to IAS 34 *Interim Financial Reporting*, requires an entity to report selected information about its operating segments in interim financial reports. It also sets out requirements for related disclosures about products and services, geographical areas and major customers.

- IN5 The [draft] IFRS requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments. Reportable segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria. Operating segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Generally, financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.
- IN6 The [draft] IFRS requires an entity to report a measure of operating segment profit or loss, particular income and expense items, and assets. It requires reconciliations of total reportable segment revenues, total profit or loss, total assets, and other amounts disclosed for reportable segments to corresponding amounts in the entity's financial statements. It requires an entity to report information about the revenues derived from its products or services (or groups of similar products and services), about the countries in which it earns revenues and holds assets, and about major customers, regardless of whether that information is used by management in making operating decisions. However, the [draft] IFRS does not require an entity to report information that is not prepared for internal use if the necessary information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive.
- IN7 The [draft] IFRS also requires an entity to give descriptive information about the way that the operating segments were determined, the products and services provided by the segments, differences between the measurements used in reporting segment information and those used in the entity's financial statements, and changes in the measurement of segment amounts from period to period.
- IN8 The [draft] IFRS is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

## **Changes from previous requirements**

---

- IN9 The main changes from IAS 14 are described below.

### **Scope of the [draft] IFRS**

- IN10 IAS 14 requires entities whose equity or debt securities are publicly traded and entities that are in the process of issuing equity or debt securities in public securities markets to disclose segment information. The [draft] IFRS extends the scope to include also entities that hold assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders.

### **Identification of segments**

- IN11 The requirements of the [draft] IFRS are based on the information about the components of the entity that management uses to make decisions about operating matters. The [draft] IFRS requires identification of operating segments on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and assess its performance. IAS 14 requires identification of two sets of segments—one based on related products and services, and the other on geographical areas. IAS 14 regards one set as primary segments and the other as secondary segments.
- IN12 A component of an entity that sells primarily or exclusively to other operating segments of the entity is included in the [draft] IFRS definition of an operating segment if the entity is managed that way. IAS 14 limits reportable segments to those that earn a majority of their revenue from sales to external customers and therefore does not require the different stages of vertically integrated operations to be identified as separate segments.

### **Measurement of segment information**

- IN13 The [draft] IFRS requires the amount of each operating segment item reported to be the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance. IAS 14 requires segment information to be prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the consolidated group or entity.
- IN14 IAS 14 defines segment revenue, segment expense, segment result, segment assets, and segment liabilities. The [draft] IFRS does not define these terms, but requires an explanation of how segment profit or loss and segment assets are measured for each reportable segment.

## Disclosure

- IN15 The [draft] IFRS requires an entity to disclose the following information:
- (a) factors used to identify the entity's operating segments, including the basis of organisation (for example, whether management organises the entity around differences in products and services, geographical areas, regulatory environments, or a combination of factors and whether segments have been aggregated), and
  - (b) types of products and services from which each reportable segment derives its revenues.
- IAS 14 does not require this information.
- IN16 IAS 14 requires the entity to disclose specified items of information about its primary segments. The [draft] IFRS requires an entity to disclose specified amounts about each reportable segment, if the specified amounts are included in the measure of segment profit or loss or assets reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.
- IN17 The [draft] IFRS requires an entity to report interest revenue separately from interest expense for each reportable segment unless a majority of the segment's revenues are from interest and the chief operating decision maker relies primarily on net interest revenue to assess the performance of the segment and to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment. IAS 14 does not require disclosure of interest income and expense.
- IN18 The [draft] IFRS requires an entity, including an entity with a single reportable segment, to disclose information for the entity as a whole about its products and services, geographical areas and major customers. This requirement applies, regardless of the entity's organisation, if the information is not included as part of the disclosures about segments. IAS 14 does not require an entity with a single reportable segment to provide information for the entity as a whole about its products and services, geographical areas and major customers.

## **[Draft] International Financial Reporting Standard X Operating Segments**

### **Core principle**

---

- 1 This [draft] IFRS requires an entity to disclose information to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the types of business activities in which it engages and the economic environments in which it operates.

### **Scope**

---

- 2 This [draft] IFRS shall be applied by all entities that:
- (a) have filed, or are in the process of filing, their financial statements with a securities commission or other regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market; or
  - (b) hold assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders, such as a bank, insurance company, securities broker/dealer, pension fund, mutual fund or investment banking entity.
- 3 If an entity that is not required to apply this [draft] IFRS chooses to disclose segment information in financial statements that comply with International Financial Reporting Standards, that entity shall comply with the requirements of this [draft] IFRS.

### **Operating segments**

---

- 4 An operating segment is a component of an entity:
- (a) that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity),
  - (b) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and
  - (c) for which discrete financial information is available.

An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn revenues, for example, start-up operations may be operating segments before earning revenues.

- 5 Not every part of an entity is necessarily an operating segment or part of an operating segment. For example, a corporate headquarters or some functional departments may not earn revenues or may earn revenues that are only incidental to the activities of the entity and would not be operating segments. For the purposes of this [draft] IFRS, an entity's post-employment benefit plans are not regarded as operating segments.
- 6 The term 'chief operating decision maker' identifies a function, not necessarily a manager with a specific title. That function is to allocate resources to and assess the performance of the operating segments of an entity. Often the chief operating decision maker of an entity is its chief executive officer or chief operating officer, but for example it may be a group of executive directors or others.
- 7 For many entities, the three characteristics of operating segments described in paragraph 4 clearly identify its operating segments. However, an entity may produce reports in which its business activities are presented in a variety of ways. If the chief operating decision maker uses more than one set of segment information, other factors may identify a single set of components as constituting an entity's operating segments, including the nature of the business activities of each component, the existence of managers responsible for them, and information presented to the board of directors.
- 8 Generally, an operating segment has a segment manager who is directly accountable to and maintains regular contact with the chief operating decision maker to discuss operating activities, financial results, forecasts, or plans for the segment. The term 'segment manager' identifies a function, not necessarily a manager with a specific title. The chief operating decision maker also may be the segment manager for some operating segments. A single manager may be the segment manager for more than one operating segment. If the characteristics in paragraph 4 apply to more than one set of components of an organisation but there is only one set for which segment managers are held responsible, that set of components constitutes the operating segments.
- 9 The characteristics in paragraph 4 may apply to two or more overlapping sets of components for which managers are held responsible. That structure is sometimes referred to as a matrix form of organisation. For example, in some entities, some managers are responsible for different product and service lines worldwide, whereas other managers

are responsible for specific geographical areas. The chief operating decision maker regularly reviews the operating results of both sets of components, and financial information is available for both. In that situation, the components based on products and services would constitute the operating segments.

### **Reportable segments**

---

- 10 An entity shall report separately information about each operating segment that
- (a) has been identified in accordance with paragraphs 4–9 or results from aggregating two or more of those segments in accordance with paragraph 11, and
  - (b) exceeds the quantitative thresholds in paragraph 12.
- Paragraphs 13–18 specify other situations in which separate information about an operating segment shall be reported.

### **Aggregation criteria**

- 11 Operating segments often exhibit similar long-term financial performance if they have similar economic characteristics. For example, similar long-term average gross margins for two operating segments would be expected if their economic characteristics were similar. Two or more operating segments may be aggregated into a single segment if aggregation is consistent with the core principle of this [draft] IFRS, the segments have similar economic characteristics, and the segments are similar in each of the following respects:
- (a) the nature of the products and services;
  - (b) the nature of the production processes;
  - (c) the type or class of customer for their products and services;
  - (d) the methods used to distribute their products or provide their services; and
  - (e) if applicable, the nature of the regulatory environment, for example, banking, insurance, or public utilities.

## Quantitative thresholds

- 12 An entity shall report separately information about an operating segment that meets any of the following quantitative thresholds:
- (a) Its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is 10 per cent or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all operating segments.
  - (b) The absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10 per cent or more of the greater, in absolute amount, of (i) the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a loss and (ii) the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss.
  - (c) Its assets are 10 per cent or more of the combined assets of all operating segments.

Operating segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and separately disclosed, if management believes that information about the segment would be useful to users of the financial statements.

- 13 An entity may combine information about operating segments that do not meet the quantitative thresholds with information about other operating segments that do not meet the quantitative thresholds to produce a reportable segment only if the operating segments share a majority of the aggregation criteria listed in paragraph 11.
- 14 If the total external revenue reported by operating segments constitutes less than 75 per cent of the entity's revenue, additional operating segments shall be identified as reportable segments (even if they do not meet the criteria in paragraph 12) until at least 75 per cent of the entity's revenue is included in reportable segments.
- 15 Information about other business activities and operating segments that are not reportable shall be combined and disclosed in an 'all other segments' category separately from other reconciling items in the reconciliations required by paragraph 27. The sources of the revenue included in the 'all other segments' category shall be described.
- 16 If management judges that an operating segment identified as a reportable segment in the immediately preceding period is of continuing significance, information about that segment shall continue to be



reported separately in the current period even if it no longer meets the criteria for reportability in paragraph 12.

- 17 If an operating segment is identified as a reportable segment in the current period in accordance with the quantitative thresholds, segment data for a prior period presented for comparative purposes shall be restated to reflect the newly reportable segment as a separate segment even if that segment did not satisfy the criteria for reportability in paragraph 12 in the prior period unless the necessary information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive.
- 18 There may be a practical limit to the number of reportable segments that an entity separately discloses beyond which segment information may become too detailed. Although no precise limit has been determined, as the number of segments that are reportable in accordance with paragraphs 12–17 increases above ten, the entity should consider whether a practical limit has been reached.

## Disclosure

---

- 19 **An entity shall disclose information to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the types of business activities in which it engages and the economic environments in which it operates.**
- 20 To give effect to the principle in paragraph 19, an entity shall disclose the following for each period for which an income statement is presented:
- (a) general information as described in paragraph 21;
  - (b) information about reported segment profit or loss, including specified revenues and expenses included in reported segment profit or loss, segment assets, and the basis of measurement, as described in paragraphs 22–26; and
  - (c) reconciliations of the totals of segment revenues, reported segment profit or loss, segment assets, and other material segment items to corresponding entity amounts as described in paragraph 27.

Reconciliations of balance sheet amounts for reportable segments to the entity's balance sheet amounts are required for each date at which a balance sheet is presented. Previously reported information for prior periods shall be restated as described in paragraphs 28 and 29.

## General information

- 21 An entity shall disclose the following general information:
- (a) factors used to identify the entity's reportable segments, including the basis of organisation (for example, whether management has chosen to organise the entity around differences in products and services, geographical areas, regulatory environments, or a combination of factors and whether operating segments have been aggregated), and
  - (b) types of products and services from which each reportable segment derives its revenues.

## Information about profit or loss and assets

- 22 An entity shall report a measure of profit or loss and total assets for each reportable segment. An entity shall also disclose the following about each reportable segment if the specified amounts are included in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker or are otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker, even if not included in that measure of segment profit or loss:
- (a) revenues from external customers;
  - (b) revenues from transactions with other operating segments of the same entity;
  - (c) interest revenue;
  - (d) interest expense;
  - (e) depreciation and amortisation;
  - (f) material items of income and expense disclosed in accordance with paragraph 86 of IAS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements*;
  - (g) the entity's interest in the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for by the equity method;
  - (h) income tax expense or income; and
  - (i) material non-cash items other than depreciation and amortisation.

An entity shall report interest revenue separately from interest expense for each reportable segment unless a majority of the segment's revenues are from interest and the chief operating decision maker relies primarily on net interest revenue to assess the performance of the segment and

make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment. In that situation, an entity may report that segment's interest revenue net of its interest expense and disclose that it has done so.

- 23 An entity shall disclose the following about each reportable segment if the specified amounts are included in the determination of segment assets reviewed by the chief operating decision maker or are otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker, even if not included in the determination of segment assets:
- (a) the amount of investment in associates and joint ventures accounted for by the equity method, and
  - (b) total expenditures for additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit assets (see IAS 19 *Employee Benefits* paragraphs 54–58) and rights arising under insurance contracts.

## Measurement

---

- 24 The amount of each segment item reported shall be the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance. Adjustments and eliminations made in preparing an entity's financial statements and allocations of revenues, expenses, and gains or losses shall be included in determining reported segment profit or loss only if they are included in the measure of the segment's profit or loss that is used by the chief operating decision maker. Similarly, only those assets that are included in the measure of the segment's assets that is used by the chief operating decision maker shall be reported for that segment. If amounts are allocated to reported segment profit or loss or assets, those amounts shall be allocated on a reasonable basis.
- 25 If the chief operating decision maker uses only one measure of an operating segment's profit or loss and only one measure of the segment's assets in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources, segment profit or loss and assets shall be reported at those measures. If the chief operating decision maker uses more than one measure of an operating segment's profit or loss and more than one measure of the segment's assets, the reported measures shall be those that management believes are determined in accordance with the measurement principles most consistent with those used in measuring the corresponding amounts in the entity's financial statements.

- 26 An entity shall provide an explanation of the measurements of segment profit or loss and segment assets for each reportable segment. At a minimum, an entity shall disclose the following:
- (a) the basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments.
  - (b) the nature of any differences between the measurements of the reportable segments' profits or losses and the entity's profit or loss before income tax expense or income and discontinued operations (if not apparent from the reconciliations described in paragraph 27). Those differences could include accounting policies and policies for allocation of centrally incurred costs that are necessary for an understanding of the reported segment information.
  - (c) the nature of any differences between the measurements of the reportable segments' assets and the entity's assets (if not apparent from the reconciliations described in paragraph 27). Those differences could include accounting policies and policies for allocation of jointly used assets that are necessary for an understanding of the reported segment information.
  - (d) the nature of any changes from prior periods in the measurement methods used to determine reported segment profit or loss and the effect, if any, of those changes on the measure of segment profit or loss.
  - (e) the nature and effect of any asymmetrical allocations to reportable segments. For example, an entity might allocate depreciation expense to a segment without allocating the related depreciable assets to that segment.

### **Reconciliations**

- 27 An entity shall provide reconciliations of all of the following:
- (a) the total of the reportable segments' revenues to the entity's revenue.
  - (b) the total of the reportable segments' measures of profit or loss to the entity's profit or loss before income tax expense or income and discontinued operations. However, if an entity allocates to reportable segments items such as income tax expense or income, the entity may reconcile the total of the segments' measures of profit or loss to the entity's profit or loss after those items.
  - (c) the total of the reportable segments' assets to the entity's assets.

- (d) the total of the reportable segments' amounts for every other material item of information disclosed to the corresponding amount for the entity. For example, an entity may choose to disclose liabilities for its reportable segments, in which case the entity would reconcile the total of reportable segments' liabilities to the entity's liabilities if the segment liabilities are material.

All material reconciling items shall be separately identified and described. For example, the amount of each material adjustment needed to reconcile reportable segment profit or loss to the entity's profit or loss arising from different accounting policies shall be separately identified and described.

### **Restatement of previously reported information**

- 28 If an entity changes the structure of its internal organisation in a manner that causes the composition of its reportable segments to change, the corresponding information for earlier periods, including interim periods, shall be restated unless the information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive. The determination of whether the information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive shall be made for each individual item of disclosure. Following a change in the composition of its reportable segments, an entity shall disclose whether it has restated the corresponding items of segment information for earlier periods.
- 29 If an entity has changed the structure of its internal organisation in a manner that causes the composition of its reportable segments to change and if segment information for earlier periods, including interim periods, is not restated to reflect the change, the entity shall disclose in the year in which the change occurs segment information for the current period on both the old basis and the new basis of segmentation, unless the necessary information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive.

### **Entity-wide disclosures**

---

- 30 Paragraphs 31–33 apply to all entities subject to this [draft] IFRS including those entities that have a single reportable segment. Some entities' business activities are not organised on the basis of differences in related products and services or differences in geographical areas of operations. Such an entity's reportable segments may report revenues from a broad range of essentially different products and services, or more than one of its reportable segments may provide essentially the same

products and services. Similarly, an entity's reportable segments may hold assets in different geographical areas and report revenues from customers in different geographical areas, or more than one of its reportable segments may operate in the same geographical area. Information required by paragraphs 31–33 shall be provided only if it is not provided as part of the reportable segment information required by this [draft] IFRS.

### **Information about products and services**

- 31 An entity shall report the revenues from external customers for each product and service or each group of similar products and services, unless the necessary information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive, in which case that fact shall be disclosed. The amounts of revenues reported shall be based on the financial information used to produce the entity's financial statements.

### **Information about geographical areas**

- 32 An entity shall report the following geographical information, unless the necessary information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive:
- (a) revenues from external customers (i) attributed to the entity's country of domicile and (ii) attributed to all foreign countries in total from which the entity derives revenues. If revenues from external customers attributed to an individual foreign country are material, those revenues shall be disclosed separately. An entity shall disclose the basis for attributing revenues from external customers to individual countries.
  - (b) non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit assets, and rights arising under insurance contracts (i) located in the entity's country of domicile and (ii) located in all foreign countries in total in which the entity holds assets. If assets in an individual foreign country are material, those assets shall be disclosed separately.

The amounts reported shall be based on the financial information that is used to produce the entity's financial statements. If the necessary information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive, that fact shall be disclosed. An entity may provide, in addition to the information required by this paragraph, subtotals of geographical information about groups of countries.

### **Information about major customers**

- 33 An entity shall provide information about the extent of its reliance on its major customers. If revenues from transactions with a single external customer amount to 10 per cent or more of an entity's revenues, the entity shall disclose that fact, the total amount of revenues from each such customer, and the identity of the segment or segments reporting the revenues. The entity need not disclose the identity of a major customer or the amount of revenues that each segment reports from that customer. For the purposes of this [draft] IFRS, a group of entities known to a reporting entity to be under common control shall be considered a single customer, and a national government, a local government (for example, a county or municipality), or a foreign government each shall be considered a single customer.

### **Transitional provisions and effective date**

---

- 34 An entity shall apply this [draft] IFRS in its annual financial statements for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies this [draft] IFRS in its financial statements for a period before 1 January 2007, it shall disclose that fact.
- 35 Segment information for prior years that is reported as comparative information for the initial year of application shall be restated to conform to the requirements of this [draft] IFRS, unless the necessary information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive.

### **Withdrawal of IAS 14**

---

- 36 This [draft] IFRS supersedes IAS 14 *Segment Reporting*.

## Appendix Amendments to other IFRSs

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after [1 January 2007]. If an entity applies this [draft] IFRS for an earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that earlier period. In the amended paragraphs, new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

- A1 In International Financial Reporting Standards, including International Accounting Standards and Interpretations, applicable at [date of issue of IFRS], references to IAS 14 *Segment Reporting* are amended to IFRS [X] *Operating Segments*.
- A2 In IFRS 5 *Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations*, paragraph 41 is amended as follows:
- 41 An entity shall disclose the following information in the notes in the period in which a non-current asset (or disposal group) has been either classified as held for sale or sold:
- ...
- (d) if applicable, the reportable segment in which the non-current asset (or disposal group) is presented in accordance with ~~IAS 14 *Segment Reporting*~~ IFRS [X] *Operating Segments*.
- A3 In IFRS 6 *Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources*, paragraph 21 is amended as follows:
- 21 **An entity shall determine an accounting policy for allocating exploration and evaluation assets to cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units for the purpose of assessing such assets for impairment. Each cash-generating unit or group of units to which an exploration and evaluation asset is allocated shall not be larger than a segment based on either the entity's primary or secondary reporting format** ~~an operating segment determined in accordance with IAS 14 *Segment Reporting*~~ IFRS [X] *Operating Segments*.



- A4 In IAS 2 *Inventories*, paragraphs 26 and 29 are amended as follows:
- 26 For example, inventories used in one ~~business~~operating segment may have a use to the entity different from the same type of inventories used in another ~~business~~operating segment. However, a difference in geographical location of inventories (or in the respective tax rules), by itself, is not sufficient to justify the use of different cost formulas.
- 29 Inventories are usually written down to net realisable value item by item. In some circumstances, however, it may be appropriate to group similar or related items. This may be the case with items of inventory relating to the same product line that have similar purposes or end uses, are produced and marketed in the same geographical area, and cannot be practicably evaluated separately from other items in that product line. It is not appropriate to write inventories down on the basis of a classification of inventory, for example, finished goods, or all the inventories in a particular ~~industry or geographical~~operating segment. Service providers generally accumulate costs in respect of each service for which a separate selling price is charged. Therefore, each such service is treated as a separate item.
- A5 In IAS 7 *Cash Flow Statements*, paragraph 50 is amended as follows:
- 50 Additional information may be relevant to users in understanding the financial position and liquidity of an entity. Disclosure of this information, together with a commentary by management, is encouraged and may include:
- ...
- (d) the amount of the cash flows arising from the operating, investing and financing activities of each ~~reported industry and geographical~~reportable segment (see ~~IAS 14 Segment Reporting~~IFRS [X] Operating Segments).
- A6 In IAS 19 *Employee Benefits*, the example illustrating paragraph 115 is amended as follows:

<b>Example illustrating paragraph 115</b>
---

An entity discontinues a <del>business</del> <u>an operating</u> segment and employees of the discontinued segment will earn no further benefits...
---

A7 In IAS 34 *Interim Financial Reporting*, paragraph 16 is amended as follows:

**16** An entity shall include the following information, as a minimum, in the notes to its interim financial statements, if material and if not disclosed elsewhere in the interim financial report. The information shall normally be reported on a financial year-to-date basis. However, the entity shall also disclose any events or transactions that are material to an understanding of the current interim period:

...

(g) ~~the following segment revenue and segment result for business segments or geographical segments, whichever is the entity's primary basis of segment reporting information (disclosure of segment data information is required in an entity's interim financial report only if IAS 14 *Segment Reporting* IFRS [X] *Operating Segments* requires that entity to disclose segment data information in its annual financial statements):~~

(i) ~~revenues from external customers~~

(ii) ~~intersegment revenues~~

(iii) ~~a measure of segment profit or loss~~

(iv) ~~total assets for which there has been a material change from the amount disclosed in the last annual financial statements~~

(v) ~~a description of differences from the last annual financial statements in the basis of segmentation or in the basis of measurement of segment profit or loss~~

(vi) ~~a reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments' measures of profit or loss to the entity's profit or loss before income tax expense or income and discontinued operations. However if an entity allocates to reportable segments items such as income tax expense, the entity may reconcile the total of the segments' measures of profit or loss to profit or loss after those items. Material reconciling items shall be separately identified and described in that reconciliation;~~

...

A8 IAS 36 *Impairment of Assets* is amended as described below.

In the Introduction, paragraph IN11 is amended as follows:

IN11 The previous version of IAS 36 required goodwill acquired in a business combination to be tested for impairment as part of impairment testing the cash-generating unit(s) to which it related. It employed a 'bottom-up/top-down' approach under which the goodwill was, in effect, tested for impairment by allocating its carrying amount to each cash-generating unit or smallest group of cash-generating units to which a portion of that carrying amount could be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis. The Standard similarly requires goodwill acquired in a business combination to be tested for impairment as part of impairment testing the cash-generating unit(s) to which it relates. However, the Standard clarifies that:

...

- (b) each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated should:
  - (i) represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; and
  - (ii) not be larger than ~~an operating segment based on either the entity's primary or the entity's secondary reporting format~~ determined in accordance with ~~IAS 14 Segment Reporting~~ IFRS [X] Operating Segments.

Paragraph 80 is amended as follows:

**80 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination shall, from the acquisition date, be allocated to each of the acquirer's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated shall:**

...

- (b) **not be larger than ~~an operating segment based on either the entity's primary or the entity's secondary reporting format~~ determined in accordance with ~~IAS 14 Segment Reporting~~ IFRS [X] Operating Segments.**

Paragraph 129 is amended as follows:

**129 An entity that reports segment information in accordance with IAS 14 ~~Segment Reporting~~ IFRS [X] *Operating Segments* shall disclose the following for each reportable segment ~~based on an entity's primary reporting format~~:**

In paragraph 130, subparagraphs (c)(ii) and (d)(ii) are amended as follows:

**130(c)(ii) if the entity reports segment information in accordance with ~~IAS 14~~ IFRS [X], the reportable segment to which the asset belongs, ~~based on the entity's primary reporting format~~.**

**130(d)(ii) the amount of the impairment loss recognised or reversed by class of assets and, if the entity reports segment information in accordance with ~~IAS 14~~ IFRS [X], by reportable segment ~~based on the entity's primary reporting format~~; and**